

Persichina, Marco

Department of Forest Economics - SLU - Sweden, CERE - Centre for Environmental and Resource Economics - Umeå, Department of Economics - Umeå University, Department of Economics and Management - University of Pisa

2019

Online at https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/97150/MPRA Paper No. 97150, posted 09 Dec 2019 08:11 UTC

Other-Regarding Preferences and Social Norms in the Intergenerational

Transfer of Renewable Resources when Agent has Present-Biased Preferences

Marco Persichina\*†‡§

**Abstract:** 

The paper analyses the effects of present-biased preferences on the transfer of resources to future generations

in the framework of renewable resources harvesting. The paper assumes that the current generation has other-

regarding motivations for future generations, which are expressed through the adherence to spontaneous other-

regarding preferences or social norms.

Faced with the problem that the short-sighted behavior imposed by the "dictatorship of the present" can cause

a reduction in the well-being of future generations, despite the existence of social preferences, the model

presented in this study demonstrates that if the social preferences are also expressed through social norms that

prescribe to not reevaluate the harvesting decisions, a mitigation of the effect of present bias on the

intergenerational equity can occur.

In this paper, the model presented shows the properties that a social norm should have to avoid the

intergenerational inequality that can derive from present-biased preferences in the intergenerational renewable

resources management. Besides the model defines the necessary and the sufficient conditions so that the

implementation of the social norm can neutralize the effect of present-biased preferences guaranteeing the

optimal harvesting path defined at the beginning.

**Keywords:** Present bias, naive agent, intergenerational resource management, renewable resources, harvesting,

other-regarding preferences, social norms.

**JEL Classification**: D01, D03, D15, D90, D91, Q2

\* Department of Forest Economics, SLU, Sweden, marco.persichina@slu.se

† CERE - Centre for Environmental and Resource Economics, Umeå

<sup>‡</sup> Department of Economics, Umeå University

§ Department of Economics and Management, University of Pisa

## Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Intertemporal myopia in resource management
3.	A retrospective on other-regarding motives
4.	Harvesting model and behavioral assumptions
5.	Consequences of present-biased behaviors on the welfare of future generations in
	presence of other-regarding preferences
6.	Implementation of the social norm
6.1.	Necessary condition
6.2.	Sufficient condition
7.	Discussion and final remarks
Appe	endix
References	

#### 1. Introduction

In the last few years, some studies have started to explore the applications of the non-constant discount rate in resource management (Settle and Shogren, 2004) and in contexts related to the environment (Brekke and Johansson-Stenman, 2008; Karp, 2005). They start to show the dichotomy between the present-biased agents and the rational ones (Hepburn et al., 2010; Winkler, 2006). However, as Gsottbauer and van den Bergh (2011) remarked, the studies that investigate non-constant discounting in resource management have excluded from their analysis the other-regarding preferences. The assertion is well-founded, and the reasons of the necessity to include them are clear: other-regarding preferences are found in everyday life, with the evidence that individuals have carefulness concepts such as fairness (Gintis, 2000), and they adopt pro-social behaviors in a wide range of situations (Alpizar et al., 2008; Frey and Meier, 2004; Meier and Stutzer, 2008) and in different cultures (Henrich et al., 2005). Furthermore, there are several robust studies that show the validity for an inclusion of the other-regarding motives in the study of the economic behaviors (Fehr and Gächter, 2002, 2000; Gächter, 2007; Gintis et al., 2005).

Often renewable resources assume an intergenerational dimension due to their intrinsic nature. The activity of harvesting from renewable resources is the typical context in which the externalities derived from the behavior of a single agent within a community often generate effects not only on other members of the community that take their actions at the same time. But frequently, negative externalities can affect future generations whose welfare depends on the level of impoverishment to which the resources were previously exposed.

When the resource management can suffer the risk related to the present bias, it is necessary to understand in what manner present-biased behaviors affect the intertemporal dynamics in relation to the intergenerational preferences of a naive agent who has social preferences over her successors. Present bias and the resulting reversal preferences can change the outcome of the other-regarding choices posed at the beginning by the agent who has to leave some part of resources for future generations. For these reasons, the purpose of this work is to investigate the effects of present bias in renewable resource management, analyzing the

impact of myopic behaviors on the transfer of resources from the current generation to the next one, taking care of other-regarding and social preferences of the first generation. Besides, this paper focuses on the different ways in which an agent can express her social and other-regarding preferences. In fact, they can be expressed with the spontaneous choices taken in accord with other-regarding preferences without social or institutional interventions, but also with the compliance to the specific social norms that the community defines.

The capability of human society to define social norms is one of the elements that characterize the sociability itself. In fact, communities and individuals express their other-regarding preferences also through social norms. In this paper one of the main aims is the definition of the properties that a social norm need to have to avoid the negative effect of present-biased preferences on the transfer amount of future generations. For this reasons, this work will provide a model that introduce a social norm in the context in which present-biased preferences can affect the intergenerational equity in presence of other-regarding preferences of the present generation. The results will address the opportunity to adopt social norms that sustain the intergenerational distribution of the resources, keeping in mind that the capability of building a behavioral norm inside a community is one of the most important and peculiar features of human sociability.

## 2. Intertemporal myopia in resource management

Resources management is not an easy task for individuals, in particular when they have important decisional myopia (Pevnitskaya and Ryvkin, 2013). The intergenerational management of resources can suffer the conflict between long-run preferences and immediate choices when due to the present-biased preferences there emerges a conflict between the early intention of the agent and the choice made in the present. The conflict arises due to the time dependency of the discount rate, generating time-inconsistent decisions. A time inconsistency situation implies that an optimal choice defined in the present could be revisited in the future (Strotz, 1955). The origin of this phenomenon is the present bias that determines the

emergence of preference reversals. When the task involves intertemporal decisions, the absence of a constant discount rate determines the condition of possible revaluation of the choices made, changing it from what was estimated before. Behaviors that contradict the time-consistency assumption are widely studied (Frederick et al., 2002; Loewenstein and Prelec, 1992). The systematic tendency of a greater discount in the near future rather than in the distant one is a consequence of people's impulsiveness and lack in self-control (Laibson, 1997; O'Donoghue and Rabin, 1999), and it is clear that the exponential discounting cannot represent this phenomenon (Laibson, 1997).

The effects of present bias have been investigated in several areas: low saving rate (Ashraf et al., 2006; Harris and Laibson, 2001; Laibson, 1997; Laibson et al., 1998), health contexts (van der Pol and Cairns, 2002), drugs, smoking or buying addictions (Frederick et al., 2002; Gruber and Koszegi, 2001; Thaler and Shefrin, 1981; Wertenbroch, 1998), and behaviors of procrastination (Benabou and Tirole, 2003; O'Donoghue and Rabin, 1999). As well as the areas just mentioned, resource management is a field where present bias has a strong potential impact. In fact, the risks associated with preference reversals and the "dictatorship of the present" increase in settings where long-term interests may conflict with immediate consumption. This conflict can typically emerge in all the fields of public and common goods — in public goods, this is emphasized by Winkler (2006), while in the fields of the common the role of present-biased preferences in the decreasing of cooperation is shown by Persichina (2019b) — and this conflict strongly characterizes the intergenerational resource management. The harvesting of natural resources is a typical area where this conflict can emerge. In this case, present-biased decisions can potentially lead to excessive resource depletion. It is shown that if non-constant discount rates are applied in the management of a stock of natural resources, without a commitment to the policy implemented, the possibility that the governance planner revaluates the plan will lead to a collapse of the resources (Hepburn et al., 2010). Settle and Shogren (2004) showed that non-constant discounting affects the optimal resource management because it makes possible offering a justification of a future change in the decisions of the policymaker. Therefore, in the intergenerational management, present-biased preferences could compromise the wise management of the

resource stock. The use of a higher discount rate in the short-term can determine that the community's welfare — which also includes the well-being of future generations — would be jeopardized by the excessive weight of the present.

However, when the query involves renewable resources from the intergenerational perspective, the discussion is not limited merely to the impoverishment of the stock of resources for effect of the allocation of the harvesting amounts over the time by the present generation for their own consumption preferences. In presence of more generations that harvest in succession from the same stock of renewable resources, the issue also involves the social dimension in relation to the intergenerational equity and the welfare of future generations. In fact, as it will be discussed in the next section, individuals have social preferences such that they assign a positive value to the welfare of the future generations. Therefore, in the intertemporal resource management, present generations also include the welfare of the future generations in their decision process. In this manner, the present generation has the aim of behaving in accordance with its own social preferences, leaving a given amount of resources for the consumption of the following generations. As long as the intertemporal choices of the individual are time-consistent, it is clear that the outcome of the decision taken also responds to the social preferences of the individual himself. But, in the absence of time-consistency, when the agent behaves myopically under the effect of present bias, the coherence between improved action and early intention of the individual can fade away.

### 3. A retrospective on other-regarding motives

In a common resource dilemma, the economic theory prescribes the overexploitation of resources, synthesized by the famous expression "tragedy of the commons" used by Hardin (1968). This phenomenon depends on the benefit that the agent obtains from an extra unit of consumption of the commons when the cost of the reduction of the stock of resources is divided between all the members of the community that can use it, not only between those

who consume the extra units. Therefore, agents who take decisions exclusively based on their own self-interest without caring about the consequences on the wealth of others, contribute to the overexploitation of the common resources. The standard assumption about the economic behavior of agents is the axiom of self-interest. This axiom is a behavioral assumption that is defined in function of a coherent adhesion to the three logical processes that define the behavior of a homo oeconomicus: self-centered welfare, self-welfare goal, and self-goal choice (Sen, 1985) — building a theoretical system of economic interactions composed of exclusive selfish agents. However, events that contradict this assumption are observable daily in the reality of human interactions. The exclusive self-interested axiomatization does not appear to represent the peculiarities of human behavior. Interdependence between one's own wealth and the others one exists, and this is the foundation of human society. Hence, economic issues that involve the social dimension of human behavior require to economists to relax the assumption that agents are only self-interested.

Several studies have investigated the real foundation of economics when the agents take decisions within a social context, showing with undoubted clarity that individual decisions are mediated by other-regarding motives and by social preferences, such as fairness, cooperation, and reciprocity (Andreoni, 1990; Bolton and Ockenfels, 2000; Charness and Rabin, 2002; Falk and Fischbacher, 2006; Fehr and Schmidt, 1999; Rabin, 1993).

To understand the role of other-regarding preferences in social dilemmas, there are abundant contributions in the literature that show that fairness principles contribute to the formulation of the agents choices (Fehr and Gächter, 2000; Gächter, 2007; Ostrom et al., 1992). Several analyses and investigations have confirmed the ability of humans to voluntarily sustain cooperation in the case of resource dilemmas (Andreoni, 1988; Casari and Plott, 2003; Charness and Villeval, 2009; Chaudhuri, 2011; Fehr and Leibbrandt, 2011; Ledyard, 1994; Ostrom et al., 1992). Furthermore, the consequences of the introduction of other-regarding preferences in the theoretical framework of the management of commons and in environmental and resource issues have acquired great attention more recently (Brekke and

Johansson-Stenman, 2008; Carlsson and Johansson-Stenman, 2012; Frey and Stutzer, 2006; Gowdy, 2008; Gsottbauer and van den Bergh, 2011).

The other-regarding motives have an important role in the management of renewable resources in terms of equity distribution. As Fehr and Fischbacher (2005) pointed out, "other-regarding preferences" means that the agents show these preferences when they give value to the payoffs of the reference agents. In the context of renewable resources, the fairness principle becomes a crucial element in the decision process that occurs to determine how much to harvest and consume in order to behave in conformity to one's own other-regarding preferences. The others are not only those that simultaneously harvest the same resources but also the successors who will harvest in the future, when the resources are assigned for an intergenerational use. Hence, the inclusion of other-regarding preferences is essential for the equity distribution principles that affect the harvesting strategies taking care of the intergenerational externalities.

Because on one side, there are no doubts about the existence of cooperation and equity distribution capabilities of people: these capabilities are part of the success of human evolution (Gintis, 2009); on the other side, the reason why societies sometimes fail to reach the level of fairness and intergenerational equity that they desire is unclear. For this reason, in the following sections, the effects of the present bias will be investigated in relation to the welfare of future generations and on the role that social norm can have in the maintenance of the intergenerational equity, when the norm is designed to sustain other-regarding preferences of the agent.

#### 4. Harvesting model and behavioral assumptions

The model involves the harvesting activity from a stock of renewable resources: at time t the stock of resources is R(t) and the amount harvested is h(t), the growth rate is f(g, R(t)) and the stock grows following:

$$R(t+1) - R(t) = f(g, R(t))R(t) - h(t), \tag{1}$$

where  $(g, R(t)) \ge 0 \,\forall t \in [0, T]$ ; g, strictly positive, is the natural growth rate when the stock size does not affect the growth rate. Resources are materials, so it is not possible to have a negative stock of resources, and the initial level of the stock is strictly positive:

$$R(t) \ge 0 \ \forall \ t \in [0, T] \tag{2}$$

with

$$R(0) = R_0 , R_0 > 0. (3)$$

The amount harvested is not restorable such that:

$$h(t) \ge 0 \ \forall \ t \in [0, T]. \tag{4}$$

According to the resource constraint, the agent cannot harvest at time *t* more than the stock of resources available at the same time:

$$h(t) \le R(t) \ \forall \ t \in [0, T]. \tag{5}$$

In the model, there are two generations, a first one that harvests for T periods, and a second one that receives the resources leaved unharvested from the first generation.<sup>2</sup>

The welfare's agent of the first generation depends only on the amount harvested, and the utility function is expressed in the usual form:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The resources in the stock are not perishable, for this reason the growth rate is non-negative. And when  $\frac{\partial f(g,R(t))}{\partial R(t)} = 0$  the growth rate is a constant exponential one.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The model focuses on the decision-making process of the first generation.

$$U = \sum_{t=0}^{T} \delta_t u(h(t)), \tag{6}$$

where u(h(t)) is monotonic and strictly concave:

$$u'(h(t)) > 0$$
,  $u''(h(t)) < 0$ . (7)

Continuity on the harvesting amount is assumed.  $\delta_t$  represents the discount factor. The cases of neutrality in the harvesting time and of pleasure in procrastination are excluded, such that:

$$\delta_t > \delta_{t+1} \,\forall \, t \in [0, T]. \tag{8}$$

The first generation is affected by present bias, which implies:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\delta_{t}}{\delta_{t+1}} > \frac{\delta_{s}}{\delta_{s+1}} & \text{with } t < s \text{ and } s \in [0,T] \text{ for } t = 0, \\ \frac{\delta_{t}}{\delta_{t+1}} = \frac{\delta_{s}}{\delta_{s+1}} & \text{with } t < s \text{ and } t, s \in [0,T] \text{ for } t > 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(9)$$

Of course, in this condition, time consistency is impossible.

In this work to express the presence of present-biased preferences in the utility function of the agent will be used a  $\beta\delta$  model where the present bias factor is defined with  $\beta$ , such that the expected utility of the agent at time t is given by:

$$U_t = u(h(t)) + \beta \sum_{t=t+1}^{T} \delta(t)u(h(t)), \tag{10}$$

with  $0 < \beta < 1$ .

When  $\beta$  is less than 1 the condition (9) holds. Instead  $\beta=1$  is the specific case of absence of present bias, such that the discounting is the classic exponential one.

The second generation in the model is the future generation that for obviously reason has not decision making roles, it is the receiver of the residual stock of resources left unharvested by the first generation. Thus, there is an intergenerational transfer, the amount not harvested in the last period by the first generation is the initial stock for the subsequent generation:

$$[1+f(g,R(t))]R(T)-h(T)=D,$$
 (11)

where *D* represents the initial stock for the second generation.

Of course, if the first generation is absolutely selfish, nothing will be left to the next generation. However, total selfishness is not the real behavior of agents, as it is explicated in the retrospective on the other-regarding behaviors. Hence, in this model, the agent of the first generation takes care of the amount available for the successor because she has social preferences about the intergenerational distribution. So, the first generation leaves a given amount, D, unharvested at the end of the period T for the second generation.

The amount D depends on the lifetime-expected enjoyed revenue that the first agent (or generation) obtains,  $\pi$ , given the instantaneous utility of the agent such that:

$$\pi = \sum_{t=0}^{T} u(h(t)). \tag{12}$$

The transferred amount also depends on the intergenerational equity of the first generation, represented by a generic constant parameter,  $\alpha$ , exogenous and unchangeable; hence,

$$D = f(\alpha, \pi). \tag{13}$$

The amount transferred to the second generation increases with the increase in the lifetime enjoyed revenue of the first generation:

$$\frac{\partial D(\alpha, \pi)}{\partial \pi} > 0. \tag{14}$$

At any period, the agent of first generation defines the harvesting plan including the expected amount to transfer to the second generation.

# 5. Consequences of present-biased behaviors on the welfare of future generations in presence of other-regarding preferences

The issue that it is questioned in this paragraph is how the adoption of the harvesting strategy influenced by present-biased preferences affects the intergenerational transfer, given the assumption of presence of social preferences. Understanding how the presence of present-biased preferences can affect the transfer amount to the following generation is a necessary step to understand the context in which the social norms should be implemented.

The intertemporal harvesting plan of the agent is given by the maximization of the utility function (10) under the constraints expressed in (2), (3), (4) and (5), the growth of the stock is given by (1) and the agent face the (11). To show the effect of present-biased preferences on the intergenerational transfer, in the first step, the effect on the lifetime-expected revenue enjoyed by the first generation must emerge.

Hence, at time 0 the agent formulates the optimal harvesting plan for her lifetime:

$$H_{opt} = \{h_{opt}(0), \dots, h_{opt}(t_b), \dots, h_{opt}(T)\}.$$
(15)

But, the agent adopts present-biased decisions so there are no guarantees about the time-consistency of the choices time after time. In this manner, the strategy effectively implemented by the naive agent does not coincide with the initial long-run optimal plan formulated at time 0, so the harvesting plan implemented will be a biased one, expressed as:

$$H_{bias} = \{h_{bias}(0), \dots, h_{bias}(t_b), \dots, h_{bias}(T)\},\tag{16}$$

where  $H_{bias}$  is defined as the amounts that are derived time after time by the instantaneous maximization of the utility expressed in (10), under the constraints defined before, when  $\beta$  is

lower than 1.

Because (9) implies that, with  $0 < t_b < s$ , at time 0:

$$\frac{\delta_{t_b}}{\delta_{t_b+1}} = \frac{\delta_s}{\delta_{s+1}},\tag{17}$$

but later at time  $t_b$ :

$$\frac{\delta_{t_b}}{\delta_{t_b+1}} > \frac{\delta_s}{\delta_{s+1}},\tag{18}$$

then, at time  $t_b$ , the agent harvests an amount greater in the biased harvesting plan, such that:

$$h_{bias}(t_b) > h_{opt}(t_b). (19)$$

The direct consequence of an increment of the current harvested amount is that, because we are in presence of just one optimal solution at each time, to divert away from the harvesting path that was guarantees the higher lifetime utility evaluated until the previous period. The consequence consistently with Persichina (2019a), will be that the lifetime-expected enjoyed revenue that the agent obtains in the biased harvesting plan adopted,  $H_{bias}$ , can be lower than in the hypothetical optimal plan evaluated at time 0,  $H_{opt}$ :

$$\sum_{t=0}^{T} u(h_{bias}(t)) < \sum_{t=0}^{T} u(h_{opt}(t)). \tag{20}$$

Hence, the present bias can induce the agent of the first generation to adopt a strategy that implies an expected enjoyed revenue,  $\pi_{bias}$ , lower than that one expected at the beginning,  $\pi_{opt}$ . So the present bias can create inefficiency in the intertemporal management of the resources. How it will be showed soon this inefficiency persists even if the naive agent has spontaneous other-regarding preferences like in this model in which the first generation desires to leave some resources to the following generation but the amount to transfer

depends on the revenue of the first generation itself.

Hence, considering that at time 0 the agent had defined a given harvesting plan,  $H_{opt}$ , such that she had predicted to obtain a given expected enjoyed revenue  $\pi_{opt}$ , the predicted amount to leave for the future generation predicted at time 0 was defined in relation to the predicted revenue  $\pi_{opt}$ , such that:

$$D_{opt} = f(\alpha, \pi_{opt}). \tag{21}$$

At time  $t_b$ , the present bias induces the agent to reevaluate her harvesting plan. The consequence, expressed in (20), can imply that the enjoyed revenue derived from the biased harvesting plan,  $\pi_{bias}$ , is lower than  $\pi_{opt}$ , such that at time  $t_b$ , the transfer amount is reevaluated in the function of the new level of expected enjoyed revenue,  $\pi_{bias}$ :

$$D_{bias} = f(\alpha, \pi_{bias}) \tag{22}$$

Thus, taking into account (14), a decrease in  $\pi$  determines a decrease in the transfer amount such that:

$$D_{bias} < D_{opt}. (23)$$

At this point, it is easy to understand that, when  $\pi_{bias} < \pi_{opt}$ , period after period, when the effect of present-biased preferences emerges, the predicted transferred amount becomes smaller and smaller. In the final period T, the amount effectively left for the future generation will be lower than the amount that the agent would have left given the same intergenerational preferences but without the present bias that move her away from her long-run harvesting path.

Therefore, a biased harvesting plan can determine a reduction in the maximum welfare available for the future generation. The second generation, hence, suffers the consequences of a bias that affects the previous generation, with the reduction of the initial stock of

resources that the second generation receives despite the initial other-regarding intentions of the first generation. For this reason this work aims to understand which properties a social norm should have to avoid the intergenerational inequality that can derive from present-biased preferences in the intergenerational renewable resources management.

## 6. Implementation of the social norm

In the context in which the spontaneous social preferences of a present-biased agent are not sufficient to avoid the risks related to the present-biased discounting, an individual harvester could leave to the future generation less than she originally desired. In this case having the support of social norms that can induce her to apply a sort of self-commitment to her original choices it may be decisive. In fact, the compliance to social norms that require leaving an amount to the future generation not amenable to revision could offer the opportunity to commit the behavior of the agent to the first intention. The social norm, in this case, will be a nudge to facilitate the agent to behave conformal to her initial intention (Sunstein, 2014).

The implementation of a social norm that prescribes to follow the initial harvesting plan can improve the intergenerational equity. In fact, when individuals act in accord with their own spontaneous intergenerational preferences, without being bound by any social norms, there is not a constraint that avoids the revaluation of the transfer amount. So the conservation of resources for future generations is not guaranteed. Conversely, the situation of the transferred amount could be different if the agent manifests her own intergenerational preferences with the compliance to a social norm that prescribes to donate to the future generation a determined amount, set out at the beginning of the harvesting periods, and thus, defined according to the initial stock of resources. For this reason, here an analysis of the presence of this kind of social norm is conducted. The goal is to define the main properties of a model that includes the disutility that derives from a violation of the social norm that prescribes that the amount transferred, defined at the beginning, must not be subject to revaluation.

The model assumes that the violation of a social norm implies for the agent a disutility that reduces the instantaneous utility in the moment in which the violation occurs. The disutility derived by a violation of the social norm is defined with  $\eta$  such that the instantaneous utility of the present harvesting is given by:

$$u(t) = u(h(t)) - \eta_t. \tag{24}$$

It is assumed that at time  $t_b$  if the agent harvest not more of the amount initially planned  $h_{opt}(t_b)$ , the disutility that she receives is zero because there is not violation of the social norms. Otherwise, if she increases the harvesting above  $h_{opt}(t_b)$ , she receives a disutility  $\eta$  that is a no decreasing function of the difference between the current harvesting and the amount in initially planned,  $h(t) - h_{opt}(t)$ , this difference is denote with  $\gamma$ , such that:

$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} \ge 0,\tag{25}$$

Moreover,  $\eta$  is also function of the parameter  $\alpha^*$  that represents the value that the agent assigns to comply with the social norm. Such that the disutility that the social norm generates when the agents violates the norm,  $f(\alpha^*, \gamma)$ , increases with an increasing of  $\alpha^*$ :

$$\frac{\partial f(\alpha^*, \gamma)}{\partial \alpha^*} > 0,\tag{26}$$

Such that the disutility at time  $t_b$  will be given by:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A higher difference in the amount harvested represents a stronger violation of the social norm, consequently a bigger difference between the current harvesting and the amount initially planned should imply a higher disutility derived by the social norm, and in no case a decreasing disutility.

 $<sup>{}^4\</sup>alpha^*$  is assumed exogenous and unchangeable.

$$\eta_{t_b} = \begin{cases}
0, & h(t_b) \le h_{opt}(t_b) \\
f(\alpha^*, \gamma), & h(t_b) > h_{opt}(t_b)
\end{cases}$$
with  $\gamma = h(t_b) - h_{opt}(t_b)$  and  $f(\alpha^*, \gamma) > 0$ ,

So, the total expected utility of the agent at time  $t_b$  is:

$$U_{t_b} = \sum_{t=t_b}^{T} \delta_t u(\mathbf{h}(t)) - \eta_{h_{t_b}}, \tag{28}$$

with 
$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \eta} < 0$$
 for  $\eta > 0$ .

Given the model just described, here the analysis is interested in define the two main peculiarities of the existence of a social norm that prescribes the non-revaluation: the necessary condition to have positive effects to reduce the overharvesting generates by present-biased preferences; and the sufficient condition to maintain the harvesting at the optimal level initially planned.

## 6.1. Necessary condition

The necessary condition is the condition such that a disutility derived by the violation of the social norm does not induce the agent to increase the harvesting above  $h_{bias}(t_b)$ , and at the same time avoid the situation in which independently from the disutility derived by the social norm the agent will continue in any case to harvest  $h_{bias}(t_b)$ . In fact, to have positive effects on the agent's harvesting, the agent's utility must be reduced when she does not behave in compliance with the social norm. But without the situation in which the reduction in the utility generated by non-compliance behavior induces the agent to further increase the harvesting amount even above  $h_{bias}(t_b)$ .

Here the necessary condition is enunciated:<sup>5</sup>

## **Proposition 1:**

It is considered time  $t_b$  in which  $h_{bias}(t_b) > h_{opt}(t_b)$  in absence of social norm. Defining with {H} the set of all feasible harvesting strategy defined for the interval  $[t_b, T]$ , and with  $\{H_i\} \subset \{H\}$  the subset of all the feasible alternative strategies to  $H_{bias}$ . Assuming the presence of social norm such that the instantaneous utility of the present-biased agent at time  $t_b$  is  $u(t_b) = u(h(t_b)) - \eta_{t_b}$ , assuming that  $\eta_{t_b}$  is defined as in (27), and defining with  $h_i(t_b)$  the amount that the agent harvests in presence of the social norm, if

$$f(\alpha^*, \gamma) \to \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} > 0 \,\forall \, h(t) > h_{opt}(t),$$
 (29)

then

$$\nexists h_i(t_b) > h_{bias}(t_b) : H_i \geqslant H_{bias} \forall H_i \in \{H_i\}.$$
 (30)

So the necessary condition asserts that if the marginal disutility derived from the violation of the norms is increasing over the marginal increasing of the overharvesting in excess to the optimal amount initially planned,  $h(t) - h_{opt}(t)$ , in presence of social norm does not exist an amount greater than the present-biased amount harvested in absence of norm such that an harvesting path with an amount higher than  $h_{bias}(t)$  can be preferred by the agent. Hence, under the condition (29) the presence of a social norms that prescribes the non-revaluation cannot induce the naive agent to harvest an amount higher than the amount harvested in absence of social norm.

It is so possible to assert that the social norm, in order to have the possibility to reduce the effect of present bias on the harvesting amount and consequently on the transferred amount

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The proof is presented in the appendix.

to the future generation, needs to generate a strictly marginal increasing disutility on the increasing of the difference between the amount effectively harvested and the amount initially planned. In fact, a strictly increasing disutility on the amount harvested in excess to  $h_{opt}(t)$  in no cases will induce the agent to move further away from the harvesting path. A social norm with this peculiarity could reduce the effect of the present bias on the amount transferred to the future generation.

#### 6.2. Sufficient condition

Now the focus is on the definition of the condition in which the existence of a social norms that prescribe to avoid the revaluation can guarantee the optimal harvesting path defined at the beginning, guaranteeing the optimality of the harvesting amount over the time and of the transferred amount to the following generation given the presence of other-regarding preferences and of social norms even when the agent has present-biased preferences.

It is assumed that a higher difference in the amount harvested represents a stronger violation of the social norms, and consequently a bigger difference between the current harvesting and the amount initially planned should imply a higher disutility deriving from the social norm, such that  $\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \nu} > 0$ , and this guarantees the condition expressed in the proposition 1.

The time horizon  $[t_b, T]$  is considered, because as explicated before it is assumed that time  $t_b$  is the earlier period in which the agent reevaluate her harvesting amount for effect of the present bias, so the harvesting path adopted doesn't differ from  $H_{opt}$  until time  $t_b - 1$ .

In the model that is presented the sufficient condition that guarantees the compliance with the optimal harvesting path defined at the beginning has to satisfy the following:

$$u[h_{opt}(t_b)] + \beta \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_{opt}(t)] > u[h_j(t_b)] + \beta \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_j(t)] - \eta_j, \quad (31)$$

where  $h_j(t)$  is the amount harvested at time t given the harvesting strategy  $H_j \in \{H_j\}$ , where  $\{H_j\}$  is the set of all the feasible strategies at time  $t_b$  alternative to  $H_{opt}$ .

When the (31) is satisfied the harvesting strategy defined before time  $t_b$ ,  $H_{opt}$ , is still the dominant one even at time  $t_b$ .

This condition is always guaranteed when the marginal disutility for a marginal increasing of the difference  $h_j(t) - h_{opt}(t)$  is larger than the marginal utility evaluated for each harvesting amount in the interval  $(h_{opt}(t_b), h_{bias}(t_b)]$  weighted for the present bias factor  $\beta$ . It is so possible to assert the following proposition that express the sufficient condition for the maintenance of the optimal harvesting path, neutralizing the effect of the present bias (the proof is showed in the appendix):

## **Proposition 2:**

Given the presence of present-biased preferences represented by the parameter  $\beta$  as expressed in the utility function in (10) and the existence of social norms that affect the utility of the agent has express in (27) and (28) with  $\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} > 0$ . Defining in the interval [0,T] the optimal harvesting strategy  $H_{opt}$ , defining with  $\{H\}$  the set of all the feasible strategy for the interval  $[t_b,T]$ , defining with  $\{H_j\} \subset \{H\}$  the subset of  $\{H\}$  that include all the strategy alternative to  $H_{opt}$ , subset that includes even the strategy adopted by the agent in absence of social norm,  $H_{bias}$ , if:

$$\frac{\partial \eta_j}{\partial \gamma} \ge (1 - \beta) u' [h_j(t_b)], \ \forall \ h_j(t_b) \in (h_{opt}(t_b), \ h_{bias}(t_b)], \tag{32}$$

Then at time  $t_b$ :

$$H_{opt} > H_i \ \forall \ H_i \in \{H_i\} \subset \{H\} : E[U_{opt}] > E[U_{bias}] \ \forall \ t_b \in [0, T] \land \beta \in (0, 1). \tag{33}$$

The proposition just defined clarifies the sufficient condition that guarantees, in presence of the social norm that prescribe the non-revaluation of the amount initially planned, that a naive present-biased agent will maintain the optimal harvesting path defined at the beginning. This is also the condition that can guarantees the sustainability of the resources if the amount initially planned to transfer to the following generation is defined in accord to intergenerational social preferences that ensure the sustainability of the resources.

Hence, In the case of a social norm that, like in this model, prescribes that the amount defined at the beginning, must not be subject to revaluation, the social norm is also an opportunity to commit the behavior of the agent. So, the presence of constraint arising from the social norm can lead the individual to mitigate the reevaluation of the amount to leave to the future generation. Moreover, under the condition express in the proposition 2 the implementation of a social norm can avoid the reevaluation of the amount of resources to leave to the future generations, reducing the risk of overexploitation for effect of the intertemporal myopia of a naive present-biased agent.

#### 7. Discussion and final remarks

It is clear that in the context of renewable resources the action of one generation imposes externalities on the subsequent generations. This work has discussed that the choices influenced by present-biased preferences can lead the first generation to leave to the second one less than what the first generation itself wanted. It is essentially an intergenerational preference reversal, in which the original intentions of people managing resource stocks get influenced by the strong temptation of the present, eroding the resource volumes to leave to future generations. In fact, it is observed the conflict between the individual's preferences when they are not subject to pressures from the present and the choices actually made when preferences are influenced by present bias. Thus, the strategic short-sightedness imposed by the "dictatorship of the present" can cause the agents choices to divert away from optimal choices causing a reduction in the well-being of future generations despite the existence of strong social preferences.

Thus present bias can imply serious damages in terms of intergenerational equity and sustainability of resources level for future generations, even when the welfare of future

generations is supported by other-regarding preferences. The other-regarding preferences of a naive agent do not guarantee that the harvesting path will match with what is considered desirable and initially optimal. Resource management and conservation for future generations appears to be a complex task, which could not be fully solved by the spontaneous behavior of naive agents who are unable to self-commit. Even if a generation has spontaneous and intrinsic intergenerational preferences, the sustainability of resources for future generations faces the limit that in the process of decision-making over time, the choices made can be insufficient to keep the harvesting plan that leaves the resources amount initially suggested. If this amount had been defined in terms of sustainability for the future generation, the very sustainability of resources, even if desired by the present generation, would be compromised.

Faced with this problem, this study has investigated the role of the social norm of no reevaluation of the amount designed for the future generation. The result obtained with the model presented in this paper has shown that if the social preferences of the individual are not left only and exclusively to their own spontaneous behavior, and if these social preferences are expressed by social norms that can represent the individuals social preferences, a mitigation and a neutralization of the effect of present bias on the intergenerational equity can occur. This result is related to the idea that decisions about to compliance/no-compliance to given social norms are part of the decision making process of the agent and it is also part of her preferences. In fact, individuals also express their preferences through specific social norms that they believe in. Hence, by compliance with these norms, individuals express their own preferences toward other members of the community. Individuals with social preferences do not act in isolation from the community they belong to. The manner in which social norms affect individuals' behavior is one of the prerogatives of human society. A community is also based on the relatively widespread adoption of specific social norms and clearly identifiable habits, whose adoption by an individual qualifies her in very specific terms. The compliance with social norms, in fact, elicits the self-image of the agents. Agents receive a benefit by expressing themselves through actions that are in compliance with their self-image and social identity. So

compliance to social norms is in this way an expressive utility (Sunstein and Reisch, 2014). Furthermore, the social disapproval can induce individuals to conform to the social norm: they obtain utility from the social endorsement or moral utility (Levitt and List, 2007).

Consistently with this approach, the Analysis of the role of the social norm conducted in this paper shows that to have the possibility to reduce the effect of present bias on the transferred amount to the future generation, the social norm should generate a strictly marginal increasing disutility that the agent receives by the increase of the difference between the amount effectively harvested and the amount initially planned. So the disutility of a non-compliant behavior to the norm has to target the present behavior of the agent by reducing her utility in relation to the increase of her present harvesting compared to the amount initially planned.

One of the main contribution that this paper are also offered is the definition of the condition in which the adoption of social norm can guarantees the neutralization of the effect of present bias on the transferred amount to the future generation. Specifically, it is been proofed that if the marginal disutility derived from the violation of the social norm is larger than the present-biased weighted marginal utility even a naive agent will maintain the harvesting path that guarantees the optimality initially defined. It is so showed the positive and important role that social norms that sustain other-regarding preferences of the agents have in the intergenerational equity in the management of renewable resources.

The social constraint that arises from the norm in this model, while an expression of the same other-regarding preferences, offsets the effects of short-sighted behaviors — where a naive agent takes her own decisions only under the influence of present bias — that in absence of social norms are without substantial barriers. In the context of intertemporal management of resources, the social norms should have the crucial role of expressing the other-regarding preferences of the agent such that the she can keep the harvesting path as close as possible to the optimal one with a high compliance to the social norm. In fact, if the presence of the other-regarding preferences - that are necessary and essential - is not sufficient to guarantee

the intergenerational equity, the agent's behavior need to be sustained by specific institutional mechanisms and brought into the community by social norms that suggest the behaviors more appropriately for guaranteeing the equity and availability of the resources between the different generations.

In conclusion, the results obtained suggest that the transfer of resources to future generations can be preserved by respecting the preferences of the current generation and implementing a social norm that defines given behavioral heuristics. The social norm must be implemented in a manner such that the social preferences of the members of the community are expressed not only by the volume of resources they leave to the next generation, but also according to how this amount matches the amount initially assessed. Indeed this would facilitate the effective maintenance of resource stocks to be allocated to future generations.

## **Appendix**

### **Proof Proposition 1:**

At time  $t_b$ , when the agent is induced by the present bias to reevaluate her harvesting plan. The amount  $h_{bias}(t_b)$ , with  $h_{bias}(t_b) > h_{opt}(t_b)$ , is the only amount harvestable at time  $t_b$  such that:

$$H_{bias} > H_i \,\forall \, H_i \in \{H_i\} \tag{i}$$

Where with  $\{H\}$  is defined the set of all feasible harvesting strategy defined for the interval  $[t_b, T]$ , and with  $\{H_i\} \subset \{H\}$  the subset of all the feasible alternative strategies to  $H_{bias}$ .

So, taking into account the disutility derived by the violation of the social norm, the condition that guarantees that (i) is still true requires that:

$$\sum_{t=t_b}^{T} \delta(t) u(h_{bias}(t)) - \eta_{h_{bias}} > \sum_{t=t_b}^{T} \delta(t) u(h_i(t)) - \eta_{h_i}, \qquad (ii)$$

with  $\eta \geq 0$ .

It is taken into account all the alternative strategies to  $H_{bias}$  in the subset  $\{H_i\}$  that imply:

$$h_i(t_h) > h_{hias}(t_h)$$

Remembering that at time  $t_h$ :

$$u(h_i(t_b)) - u(h_{bias}(t_b)) < \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t)u(h_{bias}(t)) - \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t)u(h_i(t)),$$

the ( ii ) is satisfied for every  $\eta_{h_i} \geq \eta_{h_{bias}}$ .

The model assumes  $\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} \geq 0$  so if  $\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} = 0$  then  $\eta_{h_i} = \eta_{h_{bias}}$ , in this second case the harvesting decision is neutral to the social norm, while if  $\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} > 0$  then  $(\eta_{h_{bias}} - \eta_{h_i}) < 0$ , consequently:

If 
$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \gamma} > 0$$
, then  $\not\equiv h_i(t_b) > h_{bias}(t_b)$ :  $H_i \ge H_{bias} \forall H_i \in \{H\}$ 

## **Proof Proposition 2:**

The agent will maintain the harvesting amount defined in the optimal harvesting plan if:

$$H_{ont} > H_i \ \forall \ H_i \in \{H_i\} \subset \{H\} \ with \ H_i | \ h_{ont}(t_h) < h_i(t_h)$$
 (i)

that implies:

$$u[h_{opt}(t_b)] + \beta \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_{opt}(t)] > u[h_j(t_b)] + \beta \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_j(t)] - \eta_j$$

consequently ( i ) is true if:

$$\frac{u[h_{opt}(t_b)] - u[h_j(t_b)] + \eta_j}{\beta} > \left\{ \sum_{t=t_b+1}^T \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_j(t)] - \sum_{t=t_b+1}^T \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_{opt}(t)] \right\} (ii)$$

because  $\eta_j > 0 \ \land \ \beta < 1$  and because :

$$u[h_{opt}(t_b)] - u[h_j(t_b)] > \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_j(t)] - \sum_{t=t_b+1}^{T} \delta(t_b)^{t-t_b} u[h_{opt}(t)]$$

( ii ) is true when:

$$\frac{u[h_{opt}(t_b)] - u[h_j(t_b)] + \eta_j}{\beta} \ge u[h_{opt}(t_b)] - u[h_j(t_b)]$$
 (iii)

So if:

$$\frac{\eta_j}{\beta} \ge \frac{\beta - 1}{\beta} u \big[ h_{opt}(t_b) \big] + \frac{1 - \beta}{\beta} u \big[ h_j(t_b) \big]$$

from which:

$$\eta_{j} \ge (1 - \beta) \int_{h_{out}(t_{b})}^{h_{j}(t_{b})} u'[h(t)] dh(t_{b})$$
(iiii)

From ( *iiii* ) finally ( *i* ) is true when:

$$\frac{\partial \eta_i}{\partial \gamma} \ge (1 - \beta) u'[h(t_b)], \quad \forall \ h_i(t_b) \in \left(h_{opt}(t_b), h_{bias}(t_b)\right) \tag{iiii}$$

Because the monotonicity of the utility function and  $\beta$  < 1, ( *iiiii* ) requires:

 $\frac{\partial \eta_i}{\partial \nu} > 0$ , that it is the necessary condition defined in the proposition 1.

## References

Alpizar, F., Carlsson, F., Johansson-Stenman, O., 2008. Anonymity, reciprocity, and conformity: Evidence from voluntary contributions to a national park in Costa Rica. J. Public Econ. 92, 1047–1060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2007.11.004

Andreoni, J., 1990. Impure Altruism and Donations to Public Goods: A Theory of Warm-Glow Giving. Econ. J. 100, 464. https://doi.org/10.2307/2234133

Andreoni, J., 1988. Why free ride?. Strategies and learning in public goods experiments. J. Public Econ. 37, 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2727(88)90043-6

Ashraf, N., Karlan, D., Yin, W., 2006. Tying Odysseus to the Mast: Evidence From a Commitment Savings Product in the Philippines. Q. J. Econ. 121, 635–672. https://doi.org/10.1162/qjec.2006.121.2.635

Benabou, R., Tirole, J., 2003. Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation. Rev. Econ. Stud. 70, 489–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-937X.00253

Bolton, G.E., Ockenfels, A., 2000. ERC: A theory of equity, reciprocity, and competition. Am. Econ. Rev. 90, 166–193. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.90.1.166

Brekke, K.A., Johansson-Stenman, O., 2008. The behavioural economics of climate change. Oxford Rev. Econ. Policy 24, 280–297. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grn012

Carlsson, F., Johansson-Stenman, O., 2012. Behavioral Economics and Environmental Policy. Annu. Rev. Resour. Econ. 4, 75–99. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-110811-114547

Casari, M., Plott, C.R., 2003. Decentralized management of common property resources:

Experiments with a centuries-old institution. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 51, 217–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2681(02)00098-7

Charness, G., Rabin, M., 2002. Understanding Social Preferences with Simple Tests. Q. J. Econ. 117, 817–869. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355302760193904

Charness, G., Villeval, M.C., 2009. Cooperation and competition in intergenerational experiments in the field and the laboratory. Am. Econ. Rev. 99, 956–978. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.99.3.956

Chaudhuri, A., 2011. Sustaining cooperation in laboratory public goods experiments: A selective survey of the literature. Exp. Econ. 14, 47–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10683-010-9257-1

Falk, A., Fischbacher, U., 2006. A theory of reciprocity. Games Econ. Behav. 54, 293–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geb.2005.03.001

Fehr, Ernst; Fischbacher, U., 2005. The economics of strong reciprocity, in: Moral Sentiments and Material Interests: The Foundations of Cooperation in Economic Life. MIT Press.

Fehr, E., Gächter, S., 2002. Altruistic punishment in humans. Nature 415, 137–140. https://doi.org/10.1038/415137a

Fehr, E., Gächter, S., 2000. Cooperation and punishment in public goods experiments. Am. Econ. Rev. 90, 980–994. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.90.4.980

Fehr, E., Leibbrandt, A., 2011. A field study on cooperativeness and impatience in the Tragedy of the Commons. J. Public Econ. 95, 1144–1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.05.013

Fehr, E., Schmidt, K.M., 1999. A Theory of Fairness, Competition, and Cooperation. Q. J. Econ. 114, 817–868. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355399556151

Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., O'donoghue, T., 2002. Time Discounting and Time Preference: A Critical Review. J. Econ. Lit. 40, 351–401. https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.40.2.351

Frey, B.S., Meier, S., 2004. Pro-social behavior in a natural setting. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 54, 65–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2003.10.001

Frey, B.S., Stutzer, A., 2006. Mispredicting Utility and the Political Process, Behavioral Public Finance.

Gächter, S., 2007. Conditional cooperation: Behavioral regularities from the lab and the field and their policy implications about the Centre or contact. Econ. Psychol. A Promis. New Cross-Disciplinary F. April 2006, 19–50.

Gintis, H., 2009. The bounds of reason: game theory and the unification of the behavioral sciences. Princeton University Press.

Gintis, H., 2000. Beyond Homo economicus: Evidence from experimental economics. Ecol. Econ. 35, 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(00)00216-0

Gintis, H., Bowles, S., Boyd, R., Fehr, E., 2005. Moral Sentiments and Material Interests: Origins, Evidence, and Consequences. Moral Sentim. Mater. Interes. 3–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-007-9032-7

Gowdy, J.M., 2008. Behavioral economics and climate change policy. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 68, 632–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2008.06.011

Gruber, J., Koszegi, B., 2001. Is Addiction "Rational"? Theory and Evidence. Q. J. Econ. 116, 1261–1303. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355301753265570

Gsottbauer, E., van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., 2011. Environmental Policy Theory Given Bounded Rationality and Other-regarding Preferences. Environ. Resour. Econ. 49, 263–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-010-9433-y

Hardin, G., 1968. The tragedy of the commons. Science (80-. ). 162, 1243–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.162.3859.1243

Harris, C., Laibson, D., 2001. Dynamic choices of hyperbolic consumers. Econometrica 69, 935–957. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0262.00225

Henrich, J., Boyd, R., Bowles, S., Camerer, C.F., Fehr, E., Gintis, H., 2005. Foundations of Human Sociality: Economic Experiments and Ethnographic Evidence from Fifteen Small-Scale Societies. https://doi.org/10.1093/0199262055.001.0001

Hepburn, C., Duncan, S., Papachristodoulou, A., 2010. Behavioural economics, hyperbolic discounting and environmental policy. Environ. Resour. Econ. 46, 189–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-010-9354-9

Karp, L., 2005. Global warming and hyperbolic discounting. J. Public Econ. 89, 261–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2004.02.005

Laibson, D., 1997. Golden Eggs and Hyperbolic Discounting. Q. J. Econ. 112, 443–478. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355397555253

Laibson, D.I., Repetto, A., Tobacman, J., Hall, R.E., Gale, W.G., Akerlof, G.A., 1998. Self-Control and Saving for Retirement. Brookings Pap. Econ. Act. 1998, 91. https://doi.org/10.2307/2534671

Ledyard, J.O., 1994. Public goods: A survey of experimental research. Handb. Exp. Econ. 112–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/0037-7856(73)90129-7

Levitt, S.D., List, J.A., 2007. What Do Laboratory Experiments Measuring Social Preferences Reveal About the Real World? J. Econ. Perspect. 21, 153–174. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.21.2.153

Loewenstein, G., Prelec, D., 1992. Anomalies in Intertemporal Choice: Evidence and an

Interpretation. Q. J. Econ. 107, 573-597. https://doi.org/10.2307/2118482

Meier, S., Stutzer, A., 2008. Is volunteering rewarding in itself? Economica 75, 39–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0335.2007.00597.x

O'Donoghue, T., Rabin, M., 1999. Incentives for Procrastinators. Q. J. Econ. 114, 769–816. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355399556142

Ostrom, E., Walker, J., Gardner, R., 1992. Covenants with and without a Sword: Self-Governance Is Possible. Am. Polit. Sci. Rev. 86, 404–417. https://doi.org/10.2307/1964229

Persichina, M., 2019 a. Cascading Defections from Cooperation Triggered by Present-Biased Behaviors in the Commons (No. 97149), MPRA Paper.

Persichina, M., 2019 b. Present Bias in Renewable Resources Management Reduces Agent's Welfare (No. 97144), MPRA Paper.

Pevnitskaya, S., Ryvkin, D., 2013. Environmental context and termination uncertainty in games with a dynamic public bad. Environ. Dev. Econ. 18, 27–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X12000423

Rabin, M., 1993. Incorporating Fairness into Game Theory and Economics. Am. Econ. Rev. https://doi.org/10.2307/2117561

Sen, A., 1985. Goals, Commitment, and Identity. J. Law, Econ. Organ. https://doi.org/10.2307/765061

Settle, C., Shogren, J.F., 2004. Hyperbolic discounting and time inconsistency in a native-exotic species conflict. Resour. Energy Econ. 26, 255–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2003.11.010

Strotz, R.H., 1955. Myopia and Inconsistency in Dynamic Utility Maximization. Rev. Econ. Stud. 23, 165. https://doi.org/10.2307/2295722

Sunstein, C.R., 2014. Nudging: A Very Short Guide. J. Consum. Policy 37, 583–588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603-014-9273-1

Sunstein, C.R., Reisch, L., 2014. Automatically green: Behavioral economics and environmental protection. Harvard Environ. Law Rev. 38, 127–158. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2245657

Thaler, R.H., Shefrin, H.M., 1981. An Economic Theory of Self-Control. J. Polit. Econ. 89, 392–406. https://doi.org/10.1086/260971

van der Pol, M., Cairns, J., 2002. A comparison of the discounted utility model and hyperbolic discounting models in the case of social and private intertemporal preferences for health. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 49, 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2681(02)00059-8

Wertenbroch, K., 1998. Consumption Self-Control by Rationing Purchase Quantities of Virtue and Vice. Mark. Sci. 17, 317–337. https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.17.4.317

Winkler, R., 2006. Does "better" discounting lead to "worse" outcomes in long-run decisions? The dilemma of hyperbolic discounting. Ecol. Econ. 57, 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.05.013